No. 68495-7-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

PHILLIP SCHLOREDT,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court violated Mr. Schloredt's constitutional right to counsel.

B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The right to counsel is guaranteed under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22. Counsel shall be provided at every stage of the proceedings, including sentencing, appeal, and post-conviction review. A lawyer initially appointed shall continue to represent the defendant through all stages of the proceedings unless a new appointment is made by the court following withdrawal of the original lawyer. Did the trial court's decision permitting defense counsel to withdraw, requiring Mr. Schloredt to pursue post-conviction relief pro se, violate Mr. Schloredt's right to counsel?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Phillip Schloredt was arrested and charged with the commercial burglary of a tire shop in Edmonds, which occurred on April 8, 2011. CP 171-72; RP 80-95.¹

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings from the trial consists of two nonconsecutively paginated volumes. The first volume, from December 5 and 6, 2011, is referred to as "RP." The second volume, from the afternoon of December 6, 2011, is referred to as "2RP." Post-conviction proceedings are referred to by date, "1/13/12 RP __."

Before trial, Mr. Schloredt moved in limine to exclude a bag containing a syringe that had been found by officers when they searched his truck. RP 10; CP 157-58.² The trial court instructed the State to "carefully instruct" its witnesses on the court's ruling on this motion. RP 10.

At trial, Officer Alan Hardwick testified that Mr. Schloredt told him about "needles" in his bag, and that he had seemed unstable on his feet. RP 183-91. The officer stated that he wondered if Mr. Schloredt was using heroin, both due to his behavior and his comment about the needles. RP 189. Counsel for Mr. Schloredt did not object.

The jury convicted Mr. Schloredt of second degree burglary. CP 135; 2RP 31-34.³

Following his conviction, Mr. Schloredt's trial counsel withdrew, stating that Mr. Schloredt wished to pursue ineffective assistance of counsel in a motion for a new trial. CP__, sub. no. 45.

² Although it was apparently agreed that the syringe in question was for animal treatment and not related to drug use, it was excluded. RP 9-10.

³ Mr. Schloredt stipulated to the fact that he was on community custody at the time of the offense. RP 1-5.

On January 31, 2012, Mr. Schloredt appeared on a motion for a new trial with new assigned counsel from the Snohomish Public Defender's Office. 1/31/12 RP 2. Ms. Rivera, the new attorney, stated she "wouldn't be participating" in the motion for a new trial, and Mr. Schloredt argued the motion pro se, explaining that Ms. Rivera was not willing to assist him and therefore he "didn't have much choice in the matter." <u>Id</u>. at 2, 11. The court agreed with Mr. Schloredt that the violation of the motion in limine regarding the syringe was the most legitimate issue raised in the motion, and a "problematic circumstance." <u>Id</u>. at 20-21.

The court denied the motion for a new trial and continued the case for Mr. Schloredt's motion to arrest judgment and sentencing. 1/31/12 RP 23.

On February 27, 2012, Mr. Schloredt appeared with Ms. Rivera for the motion to arrest judgment under CrR 7.4 and for sentencing. 2/27/12 RP 6. After the court stated its understanding that Mr. Schloredt was appearing pro se on the CrR 7.4 motion, Mr. Schloredt responded, "I never requested to proceed pro se on these issues and since I don't have any representation, that this is a violation of my constitutional rights to knowingly and willingly forfeit my right to representation by a lawyer." <u>Id</u>.

After Mr. Schloredt put letters from his counsel into evidence, CP 15-16, Ms. Rivera explained to the court her reasons for withdrawing from representation. 2/27/12 RP 7-9. Ms. Rivera explained that after looking into "the merit of the arguments, research[ing] the issues," and presenting the case to her supervisor, she was informed that the Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC's) prohibited her from representing Mr. Schloredt on his CrR 7.4 motion. 2/27/12 RP 9; CP 15-16.

Mr. Schloredt pleaded with the court for a lawyer to assist him, since Ms. Rivera would not, explaining that he did not believe he was qualified to represent himself, even with access to the law library. 2/27/12 RP 13. Mr. Schloredt ultimately "opted" to represent himself on the CrR 7.4 motion, with increased access to the law library at the jail. <u>Id</u>. at 21-23. The case was continued for Mr. Schloredt to prepare for the hearing.

On March 14, 2012, Mr. Schloredt argued the CrR 7.4 motion pro se. 3/14/12 RP 2. The court denied the motion, although it found the strongest argument was the violation of the motion in limine regarding the syringe. <u>Id</u>. at 32-34. Mr. Schloredt's motions for reconsideration on the CrR 7.4 and 7.5 were also denied. <u>Id</u>. at 34-35.

D. ARGUMENT

1. BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO OBTAIN A KNOWING, INTELLIGENT AND VOLUNTARY WAIVER OF COUNSEL, THE COURT DENIED MR. SCHLOREDT HIS RIGHT TO ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL UNDER THE SIXTH AMENDMENT AND ARTICLE I, § 22.

Phillip Schloredt requested the assistance of counsel to help him with post-conviction motion practice and arguments. 1/31/12 RP 3, 11-12; 2/27/12 RP 6-8, 13-14. Mr. Schloredt had relied on counsel at trial, and had requested new counsel following his conviction, due to his intention to raise ineffective assistance of his trial attorney in his motion for a new trial. CP , sub. no. 45 (Notice of Withdrawal). The new attorney assigned to the case refused to appear on the post-conviction motion, and the court did not appoint new counsel. 1/31/12 RP 2. The trial court allowed Mr. Schloredt to summarily waive his right to counsel on his postconviction motions without any discussion of his understanding of the legal issues or the risks and dangers of self-representation. 2/27/12 RP 22-23. By permitting defense counsel to withdraw, without appointing new counsel, the court thus denied Mr. Schloredt's right to counsel -- in effect, requiring him to proceed pro se, although Mr. Schloredt had not knowingly, intelligently, and

voluntarily waived the right to counsel, as required by the state and federal constitutions.

1. Before proceeding pro se, a criminal defendant

must make a voluntary, knowing, and intelligent waiver of his right

to counsel. The state and federal constitutions guarantee criminal

defendants effective representation by counsel at all critical stages

of a case. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct.

2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); State v. Mierz, 127 Wn.2d 460, 471,

901 P.2d 286 (1995); U.S. Const. amend. 6; Wash. Const. Art I, §

22. A lawyer shall be provided at every stage of the proceedings,

including sentencing, appeal and post-conviction review. CrR

3.1(b)(2)(emphasis added).

An accused's right to be represented by counsel is a fundamental component of our criminal justice system. Lawyers in criminal cases "are necessities, not luxuries." Their presence is essential because they are the means through which the other rights of the person on trial are secured. Without counsel, the right to trial itself would be "of little avail," as this Court has recognized repeatedly. "Of all the rights an accused person has, the right to be represented by counsel is by far the most pervasive for it affects his ability to assert any other rights he may have."

United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 653-54, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80

L.Ed.2d 657 (1984) (footnotes omitted.).

A criminal defendant has the corollary right to represent himself. <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975); <u>State v. Madsen</u>, 168 Wn.2d 496, 503, 229 P.3d 714 (2010); <u>State v. Hahn</u>, 106 Wn.2d 885, 889, 726 P.2d 25 (1986); <u>State v. Silva</u>, 108 Wn. App. 536, 539, 31 P.2d 729 (2001).

The trial court may not permit self-representation unless the defendant validly waives the constitutional right to counsel. <u>Faretta</u>, 422 U.S. at 835 (waiver must be unequivocal); <u>State v.</u> <u>DeWeese</u>, 117 Wn.2d 369, 377, 816 P.2d 1 (1991). For a waiver of counsel to be valid, the trial court must ensure it was a knowing, voluntary, and intentional relinquishment of this fundamental constitutional right. <u>Johnson v. Zerbst</u>, 304 U.S. 456, 464, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938). A trial court must "indulge in every real presumption against waiver." <u>Hahn</u>, 106 Wn.2d at 896 (citing Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. at 464).

A colloquy on the record between the court and the accused is the preferred means of ensuring a waiver of counsel is voluntary, knowing, and intelligent. <u>Bellevue v. Acrey</u>, 103 Wn.2d 203, 211, 691 P.2d 957 (1984). Only in rare circumstances will the record contain sufficient information to show a valid waiver of counsel absent the requisite colloquy. <u>Acrey</u>, 103 Wn.2d at 211 (the fact that

a defendant is well educated, can read, or has been on trial previously is not dispositive as to whether he understood the relative advantages and disadvantages of self-representation in a particular situation). An incomplete waiver is not rescued by the defendant's subsequent garnering of sufficient knowledge to represent himself; therefore, at the time the defendant waives his right to counsel, he must be in possession of the critical information. <u>United States v.</u> <u>Mohawk</u>, 20 F.3d 1480, 1484 (9th Cir. 1994).

The trial court's comprehensive inquiry must elicit sufficiently detailed responses to determine the waiver of counsel is knowing, intelligent and voluntary. <u>State v. Chavis</u>, 31 Wn. App. 784, 787, 644 P.2d 1202 (1982) (finding single-word responses during colloquy insufficient to assure court that the accused understood "dangers and disadvantages of self-representation"); <u>see also State v. Dougherty</u>, 33 Wn. App. 466, 655 P.2d 1187 (1982).

Such a colloquy "at a minimum, should consist of informing the defendant of the nature and classification of the charge, the maximum penalty upon conviction and that technical rules exist" which govern the presentation of the defense. <u>Acrey</u>, 103 Wn.2d at 211; <u>see also Hahn</u>, 106 Wn.2d at 896 n.9 (providing an example of the proper procedure for the trial court). In addition, the court must

apprise the defendant of the disadvantages of self-representation.

United States v. Balough, 820 F.2d 1485, 1489 (9th Cir. 1987);

DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d. at 378; Acrey, 103 Wn.2d at 211. It is the

court's obligation to fully inform the defendant of these essential

elements, because no voluntary and intelligent waiver will be found

without some assurance on the record that the defendant is making

this decision "with eyes open" as to its risks and consequences.

Balough, 820 F.2d at 1489 (quoting Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835)

(internal citation omitted); Silva, 108 Wn. App. at 539-40. Finally, a

defendant's education, literacy, common sense, or prior experience

with the criminal justice system will "in no case" be sufficient to infer

an awareness of those risks and consequences. State v.

Christensen, 40 Wn. App. 290, 293, 698 P.2d 1069 (1985).⁴

Our Supreme Court recently emphasized in <u>Madsen</u>, in fact, that the court shall indulge in " 'every reasonable presumption'

⁴ The <u>Christensen</u> Court suggested a colloquy modeled on the federal Bench Book. 40 Wn. App. at 295. Questions to the litigant include whether he has ever studied law, whether he has represented himself before, whether he is familiar with the consequences of a guilty (or adverse) finding, whether he is aware that the judge is not able to assist him or give legal advice during trial, whether he is familiar with the Rules of Evidence, whether he is familiar with the Rules of Criminal Procedure, why he does not want an attorney to represent him, and whether any threats or promises have been made to him to induce him to waive the right to counsel. In addition to several other questions, the colloquy includes statements that the court should make to the litigant, discouraging him from making this choice, and "strongly urg[ing]" him to be represented by counsel. Id.

against a defendant's waiver of his or her right to counsel." 168 Wn.2d at 504 (quoting <u>In re Detention of Turay</u>, 139 Wn.2d at 396, 986 P.2d 790 (1999) (quoting <u>Brewer v. Williams</u>, 430 U.S. 387, 404, 97 S.Ct. 1232, 51 L.Ed.2d 424 (1977)).

 <u>Once counsel withdrew, the court asked no</u> <u>questions of Mr. Schloredt regarding his "choice" to represent</u> <u>himself</u>. Once the newly assigned counsel, Ms. Rivera, appeared on Mr. Schlorendt's case, she immediately informed the court on January 31, 2012 that she was not willing to represent her client on his post-conviction motions for a new trial or to arrest judgment.
 1/31/12 RP 2. Then, without any inquiry of Mr. Schloredt, the court stated, "Mr. Schloredt, you may make oral argument if you wish at this time." 1/31/12 RP 2.

A waiver of counsel must be executed knowingly and intelligently **at the time** the court rules upon a waiver, as the critical question is the defendant's state of mind at the time he waives his right to counsel. <u>Balough</u>, 820 F.2d at 1489; <u>Mohawk</u>, 20 F.3d at 1484; <u>see also United States v. Aponte</u>, 591 F.2d 1247, 1250 (9th Cir. 1978). The court must indulge in every presumption against the waiver of the right to counsel. <u>Madsen</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 504; <u>Hahn</u>, 106 Wn.2d at 896; <u>see Johnson v. Zerbst</u>, 304 U.S. at 464.

Yet the record reveals that the court made no inquiry whatsoever into whether Mr. Schloredt was knowingly and intelligently waiving his right to counsel before he undertook pro se representation. If anything, the record indicates that Mr. Schloredt repeatedly requested counsel, but was refused, pleading, "This court appointed counsel for this action but the attorney claims that her office would not allow her to participate..." 1/31/12 RP 3.

Mr. Schloredt attempted to argue his own motion for a new trial, but interrupted his own argument to inform the court that he had only filed his own motion "because I didn't have much choice in the matter because … I wasn't getting any help to proceed by the office, by Whitney Rivera's office." 1/31/12 RP 11. He noted that his lawyer refused to represent him on the case "because some of the case law she read that might be detrimental to my case, [and] she would not be able to represent me on this, and so I had to basically go on my own from that point." Id. at 12.⁵

2/27/12 RP 13-14 (emphasis added).

⁵ Mr. Schloredt appears to attempt to cite <u>Faretta</u> in his oral argument, stating,

As I understand it, you have to present a Ferrier [sic] motion, or something like that, to become pro se. To do that, you have to be able to understand 17 rules of self-representing, or something like that, and that's all I know about it. And I don't believe I'm qualified to represent myself even with access to the law library. I would actually like an attorney to represent me."

This is hardly the unequivocal request to proceed pro se envisioned by <u>Faretta</u>. 422 U.S. at 835. <u>See also Madsen</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 504. Nor was there any colloquy for this Court to assess, as required by the case law. <u>Faretta</u>, 422 U.S. at 835; <u>Madsen</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 504; <u>Acrey</u>, 103 Wn.2d at 211.

3. <u>Mr. Schloredt's counsel advocated against him,</u> <u>functioning as a second prosecutor</u>. Mr. Schloredt was denied counsel when his attorney refused to assist him in the preparation and argument of his motion for a new trial and his motion to arrest judgment.

Mr. Schloredt's attorney, Ms. Rivera, did more than simply ask to withdraw from her representation, however. She actually became an advocate against her client when she essentially informed the court that she believed his motions were frivolous. 1/31/12 RP 2; 2/27/12 RP 9, 19; CP 14-16 (letters to client from defense counsel). Ms. Rivera explained to the court that she had conducted legal research, and the case law she had found did not support Mr. Schloredt's motion for a new trial. 1/31/12 RP 2; 2/27/12 RP 9, 19; CP 14-16. Thus, Mr. Schloredt was not only denied counsel, but was confronted by an extra prosecutor in the

courtroom. His "choice" to represent himself was no choice at all.

As he informed the court,

I just want it on the record that I never requested to proceed pro se on these issues and since I don't have any representation, that this is a violation of my constitutional rights to knowingly and willingly forfeit my right to representation by a lawyer.

2/27/12 RP 6.

Mr. Schloredt was clearly frustrated by his attorney's decision to withdraw from representation, and had no desire to represent himself. "I believe it's pretty much unfair for me to have to represent myself here. I appreciate you letting me sit down and be able to use my hands for the rest of this..." Id. at 6.

This case is unlike those cases in which an accused seeks the right to represent himself. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Faretta</u>, 422 U.S. at 835; <u>Madsen</u>,168 Wn.2d at 504. Mr. Schloredt's case is more like <u>State</u> <u>v. Chavez</u>, where this Court found the defendant was denied counsel when his attorney filed a brief that did not support his client's position. 162 Wn. App. 431, 440, 257 P.3d 1114 (2011) (denial of counsel where attorney submitted <u>Anders</u>-style brief to trial court, indicating he thought case was frivolous).

Mr. Schloredt clearly did not wish to represent himself and repeatedly asked the court for counsel, reminding the court that it had assigned counsel for post-conviction motions. He never waived the right to counsel and had no interest in doing so. He wanted the assistance of counsel, but she refused, using the Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC's) as an excuse to withdraw from the representation.

Ms. Rivera cited RPC 3.3(a)(3) in a letter she wrote to Mr. Schloredt. CP 15. This RPC, entitled "Candor Toward the Tribunal," prohibits attorneys from failing to disclose legal authority "directly adverse to the position of the client and not disclosed by opposing counsel." RPC 3.3(a)(3). Ms. Rivera informed the court that her supervisor informed her that the RPC's "prohibit[ed]" her from representing Mr. Schloredt on the motion for a new trial. 2/27/12 RP 9.

Mr. Schloredt's motion for a new trial was, in part, based upon a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel against his trial counsel – a claim the trial court found raised a "legitimate issue" and a "problematic circumstance." 1/31/12 RP 20-22. And yet the court permitted Ms. Rivera to withdraw from representation on the premise that she had found legal authority adverse to her client's

position. CP 14-16. It is inconceivable that Ms. Rivera found legal authority on ineffective assistance of counsel that was so esoteric that it would not inevitably be "disclosed by opposing counsel," as the RPC requires. RPC 3.3(a)(3). It also strains credibility that she could not have simply disclosed the adverse case law and continued her representation.

In addition, RPC 3.3 is clear that in an adversarial proceeding, an attorney has "the limited responsibility of presenting one side of the matters" that the court should consider, while "the conflicting position is expected to be presented by the opposing party." RPC 3.3(a)(3), Comment 14 (distinguishing ex parte proceedings). Lastly, RPC 3.3(a)(3) notes that a lawyer complying with the duty of candor under this Rule <u>need not withdraw</u> from representation of a client whose interests will be adversely affected by the lawyer's disclosure of adverse case law; permission to withdraw should only be sought (or will only be permitted) if the client-lawyer relationship deteriorates as a result of the disclosure. RPC 3.3(a)(3), Comment 15 (emphasis added).

Here, Ms. Rivera easily could have represented Mr. Schloredt, disclosing adverse legal authority, as defense attorneys do on a regular basis. The record lacks any indication that Mr. Schloredt asked her not to disclose such authority, or that their discussions concerning her ethical obligations had become fraught, resulting in a conflict. <u>See RPC 3.3(a)(3)</u>, Comment 15. On the contrary, Mr. Schloredt repeatedly asked for Ms. Rivera to return to the case, despite her letters indicating her refusal. 2/27/12 RP 6, 13-14. In short, Ms. Rivera's request to withdraw from the case effectively undermined her client, signaling to the court that Mr. Schloredt's motion for a new trial was frivolous. 2/27/12 RP 9.

The court inquired further of Ms. Rivera, asking whether any other RPC's prevented her from representing Mr. Schloredt. 2/27/12 RP 19. She responded, "No, your Honor … there are no other Rules of Professional Conduct that I think are implicated in my representation of him." <u>Id</u>. The court then posited that perhaps Ms. Rivera was seeking to withdraw because she thought Mr. Schloredt's motion lacked merit.

The court opined, "I don't know that a lawyer, even if they represent somebody, has the obligation to bring an argument that they don't believe has merit ... [i]f it's more that [the defendant] has

arguments that have no merit, then there's nothing left for the lawyer to do." <u>Id</u>. at 20.⁶ The court immediately asked Mr. Schloredt to consider going pro se on the motion for a new trial, and instead of warning him against the dangers of self-representation, the court encouraged it. <u>Id</u>. at 21-23.

4. <u>Mr. Schloredt did not knowingly and intelligently</u> <u>waive his right to counsel, resulting in the deprivation of counsel,</u> <u>which is structural error</u>. The denial of counsel during a critical stage of proceedings is presumptively prejudicial. <u>Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. at 659. "It is fundamental that 'deprivation of the right to counsel is so inconsistent with the right to a fair trial that it can never be treated as harmless error." <u>Silva</u>, 108 Wn. App. at 542 (<u>quoting</u> <u>Frazer v. U.S.</u>, 18 F.3d 778, 782 (9th Cir.1994) (<u>citing Chapman v.</u> <u>California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 23 n.8, 87 S.Ct. 824, 827, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)). The error may not be considered harmless even if the court imposed a standard range sentence. <u>Silva</u>, 108 Wn. App. at

⁶ The trial court misapprehended the duties of criminal defense counsel under the RPC's. RPC 3.1, Meritorious Claims and Contentions, prohibits lawyers from bringing or defending frivolous proceedings. However, lawyers who represent defendants in criminal proceedings may defend their clients, despite this section. RPC 3.1. In addition, a lawyer's obligations under this Rule are subordinate to the federal and state constitutional right to counsel in a criminal matter. RPC 3.1 cmt. 3; <u>See Chavez</u>, 162 Wn. App. at 440 ("in light of the constitutional right of a criminal defendant to assistance of counsel, he or she may assert issues that would otherwise be prohibited under professional rules of conduct").

542; see also In re Pers. Restraint of Grajeda, 20 Wn. App. 249, 250, 579 P.2d 206 (1978) (reversing where court did not provide counsel because petitioner did not request counsel, on grounds that waiver may not be presumed). Due to this structural error, reversal is required without any further discussion of the prejudice Mr. Schloredt suffered by representing himself in the post-conviction motions.

For these reasons, Mr. Schloredt's case should be remanded so that he may receive a new hearing on the motions for a new trial and for arrest of judgment, with assigned counsel.

E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Schloredt respectfully requests this Court remand the case so that a motion for a new trial and motion for arrest of judgment can be heard, and new counsel assigned.