68495-7

68495-7

NO. 68495-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

٧.

PHILLIP L. SCHLOREDT,

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE DEFENDANT WAS REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL.

The defendant argues that he was denied assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment and Article 1, § 22 of the Washington Constitution. The Sixth Amendment guarantees an accused "the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." Article 1, §22 provides "[i]n criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel..." The right to counsel under the State constitution provides the same amount of protection as that right under the Federal constitution. State v. Corn, 95 Wn. App. 41, 62, 975 P.2d 520 (1999).

A defendant may waive the right to counsel and defend himself. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 94 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975). A defendant who chooses to represent himself must make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel. State v. Bebb, 108 Wn.2d 515, 525, 40 P.2d 829 (1987). The request to proceed pro se must be unequivocal. State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 377, 816 P.2d 1 (1991).

A defendant who chooses to be represented by counsel does not have a constitutional right to personally conduct his defense. State v. Blanchey, 75 Wn.2d 926, 938, 454 P.2d 841 (1969), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 1045 (1970). "It is true that when a defendant chooses to have a lawyer manage and present his case, law and tradition may allocate to the counsel the power to make binding decisions of trial strategy in many areas." Faretta, 422 U.S. at 820. While the right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel, the court recognizes that includes latitude for counsel to make decisions on behalf of her client based on her skill and knowledge. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Any such set of rules would interfere with the constitutionally protected independence of counsel and restrict the wide latitude counsel must have in making tactical decisions.

ld. at 688-89.

Here the defendant was represented by counsel throughout the proceedings. Ms. Rivera thoroughly investigated the defendant's arguments for a new trial or dismissal of charges. She talked to the defendant about his claims, had her investigator contact one of the State's witnesses and did legal research. 1 CP 15-20. Based on her research she determined that it would not be tactically beneficial to the defendant for her to brief and argue the motions he wanted to bring. Authority that she would ethically be required to present to the court did not support his position. 1 CP 15. In choosing not to argue those motions Ms. Rivera exercised the "constitutionally protected independence of counsel." She was not required to raise the issues defendant wanted to present in his motions for new trial and to arrest judgment.

The defendant chose to proceed with the motions despite his attorney's concerns with his position. In doing so the defendant was permitted to have hybrid representation. "Hybrid representation encompasses the situation where both the defendant and an attorney actively participate in the presentation and share the duties of managing a defense." State v. Buelna, 83 Wn. App. 658, 661, 922 P.2d 1371 (1996). There is no Sixth Amendment right to hybrid representation. Bebb, 108 Wn.2d at 524. Nevertheless in what the trial court characterized as "unusual" it permitted the defendant to represent himself on the motions. 2-27-12 RP 22-23.

The defendant contends that Ms. Rivera withdrew from her representation of him, and he was required to represent himself without a knowing and intelligent waiver of right to counsel. BOA at 10. The record does not support this contention. As noted, Ms. Rivera did conduct an investigation into the defendant's bases for his CrR 7.4 and CrR 7.5 motions before concluding that her assistance on those motions would be detrimental to the defendant's case. The defendant cites no authority that requires defense counsel to file and argue every motion the defendant wants argued while counsel represents him. Instead, counsel is not required to do so.

An attorney has no obligation to raise every non-frivolous issue the defendant wishes to pursue. <u>Jones v. Barnes</u>, 463 U.S. 745, 751-752, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 77 L.Ed.2d 987 (1983). This is true at the trial level as well as on appeal.

Counsel is not, at the risk of being charged with incompetence, obliged to raise every conceivable point, however frivolous, damaging or inconsequential it may appear at the time, or to argue every point to the court and jury which in retrospect may seem important to the defendant nor is he obliged to obtain a written waiver or instructions from the defendant as to each and every turn or direction the accused wants his counsel to take.

<u>State v. Piche</u>, 71 Wn.2d 583, 590, 430 P.2d 522 (1967), <u>cert.</u> denied, 390 U.S. 912 (1968).

Throughout the proceedings the defendant and Ms. Rivera made it clear that she represented him. Ms. Rivera introduced herself as acting on behalf of the defendant. 1-31-12 RP 22-8-12 RP 1; 2-27-12 RP 4; 3-14-12 RP 1. Ms. Rivera challenged the State's calculation of the defendant's offender score. 1-31-12 RP 4. She researched reasons for the court to justify a low end sentence, and presented those reasons to the court. She also advocated for an appeal bond. 3-14-12 RP 36-39. Although Ms. Rivera did not present the defendant's post trial motions, she did assist him with those motions. She provided the defendant with copies of cases, and assisted in getting a court order so the defendant could access the jail law library. 2-27-12 RP 12-13. Ms. Rivera did not withdraw her representation until the sentencing hearing had been completed and she filed a notice of appeal on the 1 CP 2; 4 CP _ (sub 109 notice of defendant's behalf. withdrawal).

Despite this the defendant stated he wanted an attorney to represent him on the motions. 2-27-12 RP 13-14. Based on that the court inquired into the nature of the conflict Ms. Rivera had.

Concluding that problem of presenting authority contrary to the defendant's position would exist regardless of who represented the defendant the court gave the defendant two options; he could have Ms. Rivera represent him and provide the court authority contrary to his position or he could represent himself on the motions. That choice is constitutionally permissible when the defendant has not provided the court with a legitimate ground on which to provide him substitute counsel. State v. Staten, 60 Wn. App. 163, 169, 802 P.2d 1384, review denied, 117 Wn.2d 1011 (1991). Here the defendant did not ask for substitute counsel; he asked for counsel to argue his motions. There was no legitimate basis for that request. Because counsel was not required to argue the motions in the exercise of her professional judgment, the court did not err by giving the defendant the option of representing himself on the motions.

After conferring with Ms. Rivera the defendant opted to represent himself. The court conducted a colloquy to ensure that the defendant's request to represent himself on the motions was knowing, intelligent and voluntary. After finding his request met those criteria it permitted him to represent himself in arguing the motions. 2-27-12 RP 14-27.

The defendant states the court must make a comprehensive inquiry to determine whether the defendant intelligently waived his right to counsel, citing State v. Chavis, 31 Wn. App. 784, 644 P.2d 1202 (1982). He cite no authority for the proposition that such inquiry must be made when the defendant is represented by counsel, but is permitted to present some portion of his defense pro se as occurred here. Nevertheless, since the court did make an adequate inquiry and the defendant validly waived his right to counsel as it related to the motions.

The defendant points to the lack of inquiry at the January 31 hearing when the defendant first presented his motion to arrest judgment and for new trial to support his argument. If an inquiry were required in a circumstance such as this, any error was harmless.

This Court has held that an outright denial of right to counsel is not subject to harmless error. State v. Harell, 80 Wn. App. 802, 805, 911 P.2d 1034 (1996). In Harrell the defendant sought to withdraw his guilty plea on the basis he received ineffective assistance of counsel. The defendant's attorney did not assist the defendant at the hearing, and the court did not appoint the defendant another attorney. The trial court denied the motion.

Under these circumstances this Court held the defendant was entitled to a new hearing. <u>Id.</u> at 805

In contrast where the defendant has not been completely denied his right to counsel, even where he has been unrepresented at a critical stage of the proceedings, the Court has applied a harmless error analysis. State v. Lackey, 153 Wn. App. 791, 223 P.3d 1215 (2009), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1034 (2010). In Lackey the defendant's original attorney withdrew and he had not been appointed a new attorney at a hearing where he signed a speedy trial waiver. Id. at 794. Although this was a critical stage of the proceeding where the defendant was entitled to counsel, error in proceeding without counsel was harmless, where the defendant later waived his right to speedy trial when new counsel had been appointed for him. Id. at 802-803.

This case is similar to <u>Lackey</u>. The defendant was represented by counsel who appeared in court with him. Although the court did not originally go through a colloquy with the defendant the first time he argued his post trial motions, it did so before the second time he argued those motions. The basis for each motion was substantially the same each time the defendant argued them. The defendant did add a prosecutor misconduct argument based

on an alleged discovery violation the second time he argued his motion. 3-14-12 RP 10-16. Despite having earlier ruled on the motion the court thoroughly addressed the defendant's arguments the second time he argued the motions. Under these circumstances, if it was error to allow the defendant to argue his motions pursuant to CrR 7.4 and CrR 7.5 pro se, without first securing a valid waiver of his right to counsel as to those motions, the error was harmless.

B. COUNSEL DID NOT UNDERMINE HER REPRESENTATION OF THE DEFENDANT.

The defendant claims Ms. Rivera refused to assist him in preparation for his motion for new trial. BOA at 12. As noted above the record does not support that contention.

The defendant further claims that Ms. Rivera actively worked against him when "she essentially informed the court that she believed his motions were frivolous." BOA at 12. To support this claim the defendant points to letters Ms. Rivera sent to him. However it was the defendant that filed those letters with the court, not Ms. Rivera. 2-27-12 RP 5-8. Had the defendant not submitted those letters to the court it would never have known the substance of those communications between the defendant and his attorney.

The defendant's claim Ms. Rivera committed any wrongdoing is specious.

The defendant also misrepresents Ms. Rivera's statements to the court when he says that she told the court the authority she had found did not support his motion for a new trial. BOA at 12. Ms. Rivera was at all times circumspect regarding the reasons she would not bring the motions the defendant wanted heard. Her responses to the court satisfied both her duty of candor to the court and her duty to the defendant. RPC 1.6, RPC 3.1, RPC 3.3. Ms. Rivera limited her response by stating that she could not ethically participate in the motions. 2-27-12 RP 9. When the court inquired further about her reasons for not bringing the defendant's motions Ms. Rivera referred the court to statements already made public when the defendant filed copies of her letters to him with the court. 2-27-12 RP 15-16, 19.

The defendant quibbles about the authority Ms. Rivera relied on to determine she would not argue the post trial motions he wanted to bring. He argues that it is unlikely that the prosecutor would not have disclosed the authority Ms. Rivera was concerned about. In any event he argues she should have forged ahead and

disclosed the authority while still maintaining the defendant had a legitimate basis for a new trial. BOA at 15-16.

This argument completely ignores the constitutionally guaranteed independence counsel are afforded in deciding how best to represent their clients. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 669. It also ignores counsel's ethical duty to refrain from bringing a frivolous proceeding. RPC 3.1. Because Ms. Rivera honored both of the competing ethical obligations she had to the defendant and the court, the authority she relied on is not in the record. Whatever it was however, is of no moment. Because the defendant exercised his right to have her represent him, she had the authority to make decisions to bring or not bring motions on his behalf. Because the court took the extraordinary measure of permitting the defendant to represent himself on those motions, and found a knowing intelligent, and voluntary waiver of right to be represented by counsel on those motions, the defendant's rights under article 1, §22 and the Sixth Amendment were fully respected.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the State asks the Court to affirm the trial court's decision denying the motion for new trial and motion to arrest judgment.